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going to call NEIHEISER. DIMORA told BEl 0, "Just make sure he [NEIHEISER] remembers

about my 3,600." BEI0 responded, "That we'll take care of. May, maybe he threw it in the bid."

They both laughed.

311. On or about March 6, 2008 at approximately 5:08 p.m., DIMORA told PE18 to

get NEIHEISER oil the phone o~ leave NEIHEISER a message to call DIMORA.

312. On or about March 6, 2008 at approximately 5: 10 p.m., DIMORA told PE27 to

retrieve documents related to the JIC from DIMORA's desk and bring them to DIMORA, who

was by Frank Russo's office.

313. On or about March 6, 2008 at approximately 5: 11 p.m, DIMORA told

NEIHEISER he would be at Delmonico's restaurant from 6:00 p.m. to 9:00 p.m. NEIHEISER

said he would stop by and have a drink. NEIHEISER said that he would pay for the Wells jersey

ifDIMORA bought the drink. DIMORA replied, "Deal." They both laughed.

314. On or about March 6, 2008 at approximately 8:15 p.m., DIMORA spoke to P014,

who said, "I heard you were lookin' for me." DIMORA replied, "Yeah. I was sittin' here with a

friend of mine who's been tryin' to get ahold of you and talk to you about your ice rink. He

wants to make a proposal to you uh that he thinks will be advantageous to the City and to you if

uh you wanted to talk to him and I mean the guy's.... " P014 asked ifit was NEIHEISER.

DIMORA confirmed it was. P014 said that he has been unable to return NEIHEISER's call

because P014 had been in union negotiations. P014 told DIMORA that P014 would "be more

than happy to talk to the guy." DIMORA said, "Okay. Dh, do you want me to tell ... I'm sittin'

next to him here but he can't hear me. Do you want me to tell him like you'll call him next week
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or...." P014 told DIMORA to have NEIHEISER call him at 9:30 the following morning and

P014 will "make time ... I'll make time ... I'll make time to talk to him." DIMORA told

P014, "If there's anything we can do, uh, let us know, you know, uh, any help we can provide."

315. On or about March 6, 2008 at approximately 9:06 p.m., DIMORA told BE10 that

Kelley, NEIHEISER, NEIHEISER's acquaintance and his acquaintance's daughter, Michael

Gabor and others were with DIMORA at Delmonico's restaurant. DIMORA told BE10, ",BILLY

[NEIHEISER] just left." BEIO asked, "Hey, did my guy [NEIHEISER], when he stopped by

there, took care of business didn't he?" DIMORA replied, "I just told you he took care of more

than me." BE I0 responded, "Beautiful."

316. On or about March 11,2008, DIMORA caused to be deposited into his joint

checking account, a check in the amount of$3,600 drawn on NEIHEISER's account and made

payable to Lori Dimora, who was DIMORA's wife.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1951.

The Grand Jury further charges:

COUNT 18
(Hobbs Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1951)

317. Paragraphs 1-3,5-6,21-22,28 and 68-69 of this Indictment are re-alleged and

incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

318. Beginning in or around Fall 2007 and continuing until in or around June 2008, the

exact dates being unknown to the Grand Jury, in the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern Division

and elsewhere, Defendant JAMES DIMORA did knowingly obstruct, delay and affect and

attempt to obstruct, delay and affect commerce and the movement of articles and commodities in
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commerce by extortion; that is, DIMORA obtained property not due to him or his office, namely,

free and discounted home improvements, materials and financial assistance, from NEIHEISER

and Reliance Mechanical, with their consent, under color of official right.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1951.

The Grand Jury further charges:

COUNT 19
(Conspiracy to Commit Wire Fraud and Honest Services Wire Fraud, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1343 and

1346, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1349 )

319. Paragraphs 1-3, 17,21,28-30,34,45,55,62,68 and 80 of this Indictment are re-

alleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

INTRODUCTION

320. In or around 2006, the County Commissioners approved construction of a new

Juvenile Justice Center at East 93rd Street and Quincy Avenue in Cleveland, Ohio, at an

estimated cost of approximately $160 million (hereinafter "JJC project").

321. On or about December 13, 2007, the County Commissioners issued requests for

proposals ("RFPs") for various portions of the JJC project.

322. On or about February 22, 2008, Reliance Mechanical submitted bids in response

to the County's RFP for the HVAC and plumbing portions of the JJe project.

323. On or about March 20, 2008, the County Commissioners voted to reject all bids

received for the plumbing portion (and other portions) of the JJC and ordered that the plumbing

portion (and other portions) be rebid.

89



Case: 1:10-cr-00387-SL  Doc #: 1  Filed:  09/14/10  90 of 138.  PageID #: 90

324. On or about April 7,2008, Reliance Mechanical submitted a second bid for the

plumbing portions of the JJC project.

325. In or around 2008, NEIHEISER sought to obtain a lease for an ice skating rink

between the City of Lakewood and Winterhurst. On or about June 6, 2008, the City of

Lakewood entered into the lease with Winterhurst.

THE CONSPIRACY

326. From in or around Fall 2007 through in or around May 2008, the exact dates being

unknown to the Grand Jury,. in the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern Division and elsewhere,

Defendants JAMES C. DIMORA and WILLIAM NEIHEISER, and others known and unknown

to the Grand Jury, did knowingly and intentionally combine, conspire, confedenite and agree with

each other to commit offenses against the United States; that is, to knowingly devise and intend

to devise a scheme and artifice:

(l) to defraud and deprive Cuyahoga County and .its citizens of their right to the honest

and faithful services of DIMORA, through bribery and kickbacks and the concealment of

material information related thereto, and

(2) to defraud Cuyahoga County and certain contractors and to obtain money and property

by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises,

and for the purpose of executing such scheme and artifice, to cause to be transmitted by means of

wire communication in interstate commerce, writings, signs, signals, pictures and sounds, in

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 1346.
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OBJECT OF THE CONSPIRACY

327. It was the object of the conspiracy that DIMORA, with BEIO's assistance, secretly

used his official position to enrich himself by soliciting and accepting gifts, payments, and other'

things of value from NEIHEISER and Reliance Mechanical, in exchange for favorable official

action, and that NEIHEISER enriched himself, Reliance Mechanical and Winterhurst by secretly

obtaining favorable official action for themselves through corrupt means.

MANNER AND MEANS

It was part of the conspiracy that:

328. NEIHEISER and Reliance Mechanical gave and offered to give DIMORA gifts,

payments, and other things of value, and in exchange, DIMORA provided favorable official

action for the benefit ofNEIHEISER and Reliance Mechanical as requested and as opportunities

arose.

329. DIMORA attempted to deprive the County and certain contractors of money and

property by taking official action in the award and administration of public business, to the

financial benefit of NEIHEISER, Reliance Mechanical and Winterhurst and to the financial

detriment of the County and certain contractors, based on NEIHEISER offering and giving things

of value to DIMORA and not based on merit.

330. The conspirators took steps to hide, conceal, and cover up their activity and the

nature and scope ofNEIHEISER's dealings with DIMORA.

331. BEIO, at times, served as an intermediary between DIMORA and NEIHEISER.
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Acts in furtherance of the conspiracy

332. In or around Fall 2007, NEIHEISER caused Reliance Mechanical to perform free

and discounted home improvements at DIMORA's residence.

333. On or about February 11,2008, DIMORA and NEIHEISER spoke about the JJC

project. NEIHEISER mentioned that the County Commissioners threw out the low bid for the

structural steel portion of the JJC project based on technicalities. NEIHEISER told DIMORA

that when Reliance Mechanical had the low bid, "Don't f.-k it up," because when Reliance

Mechanical wins the bid they (DIMORA and NEIHEISER) could "have fun for two years."

DIMORA replied, "Good," and that he hoped Reliance Mechanical was the low bid.

334. On or about February 16,2008, DIMORA purchased a Chris "Beanie" Wells

football jersey at the Comersto'ne of Hope charity auction for approximately $3,600.

335. On or about February 17,2008, DIMORA spoke to BEIO about the Wells football

jersey Dimora purchased the previous evening. DIMORA complained that NEIHEISER had

convinced DIMORA to purchase the jersey. DIMORA also indicated that NEIHEISER agreed to

pay for half the jersey. DIMORA, imitating NEIHEISER, said, "I [NEIHEISER] got your back,

I'm, I'm in for half." DIMORA then questioned, "What are we [DIMORA and NEIHEISER]

going to do, rotate it every week?" BE10 responded by telling DIMORA to sell the jersey to

NEIHEISER.

336.. On or about February 22, 2008, BE1aand DIMORA discussed the JJC project,

including Reliance Mechanical not being the low bidder by "a couple million dollars."

DIMORA said, "There's no way we could do him ifhe's that far off." BEIO stated that he was
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going to call NEIHEISER. DIMORA told BEIO, "Just make sure he [NEIHEISER] remembers

about my 3,600." BEIO responded, "That we'll take care of. May, maybe he threw it in the bid."

They both laughed.

337. On or about March 2, 2008, BEl 0 told DIMORA he recently exchanged calls with

NEIHEISER. BE10 then said, "Your buddy [NEIHEISER] is coming on an airplane tomorrow.

He's gonna call you and come see you." BEIO then clarified who he was referring to and stated,

"My friend in the mechanical business who erred in judgment and now wants to fix his error in

judgment." DIMORA asked howNEIHEISER was going to "fix it." BEIO replied, "He's gonna

fix it the only way he possibly can." DIMORA then asked ifhe was supposed to meet with

NEIHEISER. BEI0 told DIMORA, "He'll come see you~" DIMORA and BEI0 then discussed

Reliance Mechanical's bid for work at the JJC. DIMORA informed BEl 0 that Reliance

Mechanical was $2 million higher than the low bidder and inquired, "How could you be two

million off?" BEI0 agreed two million was a lot of money.. BEIO, who was in Florida at the

time of the telephone call, told DIMORA he was staying in Florida a couple ofextra days.

DIMORA and BEl 0 then discussed throwing out all the bids for the JJC because the proposals

submitted for the general trades portion were all significantly over budget.

338. On or about March 3,2008, BEIO, from Florida, called DIMORA in Ohio. After

initially discussing the weather in Florida, BE10 asked DIMORA, "Did that clown call you today

yet?" DIMORA verified that BE10 was referring to NEIHEISER and told BE10 he had spoken

with NEIHEISER and they (DIMORA and NEIHEISER) were going to "hook up" the following

day. BE10 then suggested that NEIHEISER was "feeling the pressure" because Reliance
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Mechanical was not the low bidder on the JJC. DIMORA told BEl 0 that he had spoken to the

Construction Manager and "put a bug in his ear and told him to take a look, uh, at all the

packages and if there's enough of them ya know, I said to him, 'Shouldn't we just throw them

out and keep going. '" BE10 agreed and later responded, "I wanna make sure NEIHEISER takes

care of business. That's all I care about." DIMORA replied, "Tomorrow. Hopefully I'm gonna

see him."

339. On or about March 6, 2008 at approximately 5:08 p.m., DIMORA told PEI8 to

get NEIHEISER on the phone or leave NEIHEISER a message to call DIMORA.

340. On or about March 6,2008 at approximately 5:10 p.m., DIMORA told PE27 to

retrieve documents related to the JJC from DIMORA's desk and bring them to DIMORA, who

was by Frank Russo's office.

341. On or about March 6, 2008 at approximately 5: II p.rn, DIMORA told

NEIHEISER he would be at Delmonico's restaurant from 6:00 p.m. to 9:00 p.m. NEIHEISER

said he would stop by and have a drink. NEIHEISER said that he would pay for the Wells jersey

if DIMORA bought the drink. DIMORA replied, "Deal." They both laughed.

342. On or about March 6, 2008 at approximately 8:15 p.m., DIMORA spoke to POI4,

who said, "I heard you were lookin' for me." DIMORA replied, "Yeah. I was sittin' here with a

friend of mine who's been tryin' to get ahold of you and talk to you about your ice rink. He

wants to make a proposal to you uh that he thinks will be advantageous to the City and to you if

uh you wanted to talk to him and I mean the guy's.... " P014 asked ifit was NEIHEISER.

DIMORA confirmed it was. P014 said that he has been unable to return NEIHEISER's call
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because POl4 had been in union negotiations. POl4 told DIMORA that POl4 would "be more

than happy to talk to the guy." DIMORA said, "Okay. Dh, do you want me to tell ... I'm sittin'

next to him here but he can't hear me. Do you want me to tell him like you'll call him next week

or...." P014 told DIMORA to have NEIHEISER call him at 9:30 the following morning and

POl4 will "make time ... I'll make time ... I'll make time to talk to him." DIMORA told

P014, "If there's anything we can do, uh, let us know, you know, uh, any help we can provide."

343. On or about March 6, 2008 at approximately 9:06 p.m., DIMORA told BEIO that

Kelley, NEIHEISER, NEIHEISER's acquaintance and his acquaintance's daughter, Michael

Gabor and others were with DIMORA at Delmonico's restaurant. DIMORA told BEIO, "BILLY

[NEIHEISER] just left." BEIO asked, "Hey, did my guy [NEIHEISER], when he stopped by

there, took care of business didn't he?" DIMORA replied, "I just told you he took care of more

than me." BEIO responded, "Beautiful."

344. On or about March 7, 2008, DIMORA told BEIO that NEIHEISER wanted to take

DIMORA on a trip to Atlantic City. DIMORA asked BEIO ifhe (DIMORA) should go. BEIO

questioned, "On Good Friday?" DIMORA confirmed they would travel on Good Friday. BE10

told DIMORA to use his judgment and cautioned DIMORA, as long as you go with

NEIHEISER, you might as well "publish it on CNN." BEIO said, "Oh my God, [DIMORA].

God love him he canlt shut his f--in' mouth. 1mean he's brutal." DIMORA said that is why he is

nervous.

345. On or about March 11,2008, DIMORA caused to be deposited into his joint

checking account, a check in the amount of$3,600 drawn on NEIHEISER's account and made
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payable to Lori Dimora, who was DIMORA's wife.

346. On or about March 12, 2008, DIMORA asked Gabor to call NEIHEISER

regarding the Atlantic City trip. NEIHEISER wanted five people to fill the plane, and they

discussed possible travel companions.

347. On or about March 19,2008, DIMORA confirmed that Russo definitely did not

want to go to Atlantic City. Russo expressed concern about going on the trip because the media

had been inquiring about BE13. DIMORA said that it was not worth it, considering their

upcoming trip to Las Vegas. Russo was concerned that they would blow a couple thousand and

then would be disappointed when they did not have that money in Las Vegas. Russo suggested

that DIMORA tell NEIHEISER to hire a limo to drive them to Mountaineer casino.

348. On or about April 4, 2008, NEIHEISER told DIMORA, "Russo wanted to go.

You wouldn't let him go." DIMORA laughed and said, "I wouldn't let him go?" NEIHEISER

responded, "He said yeah, [DIMORA] squished the trip." DIMORA said, "Oh, he didn't wauna

go. 1was the only one ... me and Michael [Gabor] were the only two that wanted to go.... but

let's do it again. Let's you know, we're going in uh, uh ... Vegas." NEIHEISER told DIMORA

to have fun in Las Vegas, "get your money back and then we'll reload the trip and we'll go up to

the East Coast some time in the Spring." DIMORA replied, "Definitely, please."

349. On or about May 5, 2008, BEl 0 told DIMORA, "NEIHEISERsaid he might want

to stop out tomorrow night. So ... maybe I'll give you a jingle," and then added, "That's a major

sponsor. That's serious." DIMORA responded, laughing, "I know."
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EXECUTION OF THE SCHEME

350. On or about the dates listed below, in the Northern District of Ohio and elsewhere,

DIMORA, NEIHEISER and others, for the purpose of executing the above-described scheme and

artifice, caused to be transmitted by·means of wire communication, in interstate commerce,

writings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds, including the following:

Date Description

February 17,2008 Telephone call from BEl 0 in Florida to DIMORA in the Northern
District of Ohio.

March 2, 2008 Telephone call from BE10 in Florida to DIMORA in the Northern
District of Ohio.

March 3, 2008 Telephone call from BEl 0 in Florida to DIMORA in the Northern
District of Ohio.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349.

The Grand Jury further charges:

COUNT 20
(Conspiracy to Commit Bribery Concerning Programs Receiving Federal Funds,

18 U.S.C. § 371)

351. Paragraphs 1-3,14,16,25,28,30-31,40,47,51-52,55-56,63,74,79 and 83 of

this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

352. Pumper and DAS participated in renovating the Parkview Apartments (the former

Allerton Hotel) located in downtown Cleveland, Ohio for low income housing. Pumper also had

a financial interest in the project which was financed by HUD, County loans and other means.
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353. The County was a government agency as that term is defined in Title 18, United

States Code, Section 666(d)(2), that received benefits in excess of$10,000 during the years July

31, 2004 through July 30, 2005, July 31, 2005 through July 30, 2006, July 31, 2006, through July

30, 2007, and July 31, 2007 through July 30, 2008 under a Federal program involving a grant,

contract, subsidy, loan, guarantee, insurance and other form of Federal assistance.

THE CONSPIRACY

354. Beginning in or about 2004 and continuing until on or about July 28, 2008, the

exact dates being unknown to the Grand Jury, in the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern Division

and elsewhere, Defendants JAMES C. DIMORA and MICHAEL D. GABOR, and Steven

Pumper (not charged herein) and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, did knowingly

and intentionally conspire, combine, confederate and agree to commit an offense against the

United States, that is bribery concerning programs receiving federal funds, in violation ofTitle

18, United States Code, Sections 666(a)(1)(B) and (a)(2).

OBJECTS OF THE CONSPIRACY

355. It was an object of the conspiracy that DIMORA, assisted by GABOR in some

instances, corruptly solicited and accepted for the benefit of any person things of value from

Pumper, DAS, DAS Development and Green-Source, DIMORA and GABOR acting with the

intent that DIMORA be influenced and rewarded in connection with a business, transaction and

series of transactions of the County valued at $5,000 or more in each of the years July 31, 2004

through July 30, 2005, July 31, 2005 through July 30, 2006, July 31, 2006, through July 30,

2007, and July 31,2007 through July 30, 2008. The things of value included, among other
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things, free and discounted home improvements, cash, meals, commissiops and entertainment.

The County business included County real estate projects, real estate acquisitions, the award and

administration of construction projects, loans, judicial proceedings and other County business,

both as requested and as future opportunities arose.

356. It was a further object of the conspiracy that Pumper, DAS, DAS Development

and Green-Source, with the assistance of GABOR in some instances, corruptly gave, offered and

agreed to give to DIMORA things of value, GABOR, Pumper, DAS, DAS Development and

Green-Source, acting corruptly with the intent to influence and reward DIMORA in connection

with the business, transaction and series of transactions alleged in paragraph 355.

357. It was a further object of the conspiracy that Pumper used his access to DIMORA

to ingratiate himself with others in an effort to advance Pumper's interests.

358. It was a further object of the conspiracy that DIMORA and his co-conspirators

concealed, attempted to conceal and encouraged others to conceal from the public and from law

enforcement his corrupt relationship with Pumper.

MANNER AND MEANS

It was part of the conspiracy that:

359. In or about 2004 and 2005, DIMORA requested that Pumper construct a large roof

over a patio and a bathhouse at DIMORA's residence. Pumper arranged for DAS to perform the

work, valued at approximately $31,977 (above and beyond amounts DIMORA paid directly to

DAS suppliers and subcontractors). DAS did not bill DIMORA for the work DAS performed

and caused to be performed, and DIMORA did not pay for that work in 2004 or 2005.
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360. In or around the Fall of 2004, DIMORA agreed to assist Pumper in obtaining for

DAS a County construction management contract valued at approximately $24,842.

361. On or about September 26,2006, BE8 offered to sell a parking garage to the

County for approximately $5,250,000. Sometime in 2006, the exact date unknown to the Grand

Jury, BE8 asked Pumper to assist BE8 with problems that were delaying BE8's sale of the

parking garage to the County. Pumper offered DIMORA approximately $35,000 in cash if

DIMORA facilitated the sale. DIMORA agreed and accepted approximately $33,000 in cash

from Pumper in installments ending in approximately May 2008.

362. From on or about October 23, 2006 to in or about March 2008, DIMORA used his

'influence to assist Pumper in obtaining County loans for the redevelopment of the Parkview

Apartments (hereinafter "Parkview loan") and an extension on the Parkview loan.

363. In or about 2007, DIMORA requested that Pumper construct a grill area, barbecue

shelter, patio floor and roof at DIMORA's residence. Pumper caused DAS to perform the work,

valued at approximately $27,225 (above and beyond amounts DIMORA paid directly to DAS

suppliers and subcontractors). DAS did not bill DIMORA for the work DAS performed and

caused to be performed, and DIMORA did not pay for that work in 2007.

364. Sometime between in or around June 2007 and December 2007, DIMORA, at

Pumper's request and in an attempt to expedite Pumper's divorce proceedings, called the

chambers ofP08, the judge assigned to Pumper's divorce case.

365. Beginning at a time unknown to the Grand Jury and continuing through 2008,

BE8 sought HUD financing for rehabilitating two apartment buildings he owned on the west side
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of Cleveland. He also sought a HUD commitment guaranteeing HUD-subsidized tenants. BE8

asked Pumper, who expected DAS would obtain the construction work on the rehabilitation

project, to obtain DIMORA's assistance with HUD. Specifically, BE8 wanted DIMORA to

influence two federal officials' offices to intercede with HUD on BE8's behalf. Pumper agreed to

approach DIMORA. Between on or about February 12, 2008 and on or about May 6, 2008, and

at Pumper's request, DIMORA agreed to assist and caused his staff to make calls to two federal

officials' offices.

366. From approximately December 2007 or January 2008, through in or about March

or April 2008, the exact dates unknown to the Grand Jury, DIMORA, Pumper and GABOR

agreed that DIMORA would use his County position to assist Green-Source, Pumper and

GABOR, in' obtaining public contracts and subcontracts, and that DIMORA would be

compensated for his efforts. Pumper, DIMORA and GABOR discussed Green-Source

employing GABOR to solicit work for Green-Source. They contemplated that GABOR would

use DIMORA's influence over private contractors and various public officials at the County and

municipal levels to obtain contracts and subcontracts for Green-Source. Under the plan, GABOR

would receive a base salary plus commissions from Green-Source and would give DIMORA a

percentage of those commissions. It was further contemplated between Pumper and GABOR

that when DIMORA retired from his position as County Commissioner, Green-Source would

retain DIMORA as a consultant.

367. From on or about December 18,2007 through on or about April 9, 2008,

DIMORA used his official influence to support an application for an approximately $200,000
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"Brownfield" loan and an approximately $800,000 Economic Redevelopment Loan for the

Green-Source building on Ivanhoe Road in Cleveland, Ohio.

368. On or about January 4,2008, at the request of Pumper, DIMORA recommended

to BE7 that Business 5 use DAS as a preferred contractor on two downtown Cleveland

development projects, both of which projects involved the County.

369. In or about April and May 2008, DIMORA used his influence with Judge Bridget

McCafferty to cause McCafferty to expedite scheduling and holding a settlement conference in a

case in which DAS was a party (hereinafter "the DAS case").

370. On or about May 23, 2008, when DIMORA learned that Pumper was under

federal investigation for bribing PE37, a City of Cleveland building inspector, DIMORA caused

to be written the first in a series of checks payable to DAS for the work DAS had performed on

his residence in prior years.

371. On or about May 25,2008, Pumper created a Construction Agreement purporting

to reflect a verbal agreement of October 10, 2005 between DIMORA and DAS for work DAS

performed at the DIMORA residence, and arranged to have the Construction Agreement

delivered to DIMORA through GABOR.

372. On numerous occasions during times material to this Count of the Indictment,

Pumper paid and caused DAS and DAS Development to pay for entertainment, dinners and

drinks for DIMORA and his friends and family.
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OVERT ACTS

373. In furtherance of the conspiracy, and to effect the objects thereof, DIMORA,

GABOR, Pumper and others committed the following overt acts in the Northern District of Ohio:

A. On or about October 7,2004, Pumper caused DAS to purchase supplies

for use at the DIMORA residence.

B. On or about November 16,2004, DIMORA voted to approve a County

Department of Central Services contract with DAS in the amount of approximately $24,842 for

consultant engineering services on the Courthouse Square Renovation Project.

C. On or about November 17, 2005, Pumper caused DAS to purchase

supplies for use at the DIMORA residence.

D. On or about October 23, 2006, DIMORA voted to recommend two

Brownfield Redevelopment Fund loans, each in an amount not-to-exceed $1,000,000 for the

Parkview Apartment Project.

E. On or about March 20, 2007, Pumper caused DAS Development to

distribute to DIMORA eight tickets for the March 25, 2007 Cleveland Cavaliers game, the tickets

valued at approximately $2,400.

F. On or about May 23,2007, DIMORA instructed County staff to place the

purchase of the BE8 parking garage on the agenda for Tuesday, May 29,2007.

G. On or about May 29,2007, DIMORA voted to approve the County's

purchase ofBE8's parking garage for approximately $5,145,000.
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H. On or about June 27, 2007, Pumper caused DAS to pay a contractor

$1,250 for work done on the DIMORA residence.

1. On or about September 1, 2007, Pumper caused DAS Development to

distribute to DIMORA tickets to a Cleveland Indians game.

J. On or about December 15,2007, GABOR said to Pumper that GABOR's

employment at Green-Source would be great for "everybody."

K. On or about December 17, 2007, P~mper informed DIMORA he had

tickets for him to a Cleveland Cavaliers game.

L. On or about December 20, 2007, Pumper caused DAS Development to

distribute to DIMORA four tickets for the December 20,2007 Cleveland Cavaliers game, the

tickets valued at approximately $780.

M. On or about January 4,2008, as part of Pumper's efforts to have DIMORA

assist DAS obtaining contracts with BE7's company, Pumper told BE7, "1 was just talking to

[DIMORA] the other day and we wanted to grab some lunch with you or dinner and wanted to

see how your schedule was coming up next week and, so I can coordinate that with him." BE7

asked what was "going on" with DIMORA. Pumper replied, "Uh, just you know, with the

County stuff and you know, just he just wants to break a little bread with you a little bit. So ...

we just wanted to try and do that sometime next week if that's possible." Pumper and BE7

agreed to coordinate it with DIMORA.

N. On or about January 8,2008, DIMORA voted to authorize the County

Department of Development to issue to "1170 Ivanhoe, LLC for various projects, located at I 170
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Ivanhoe Road, Cleveland [the Green-Source building]" loans "a) in the amount not-to-exceed

$200,000 for a Brownfield Redevelopment Fund Project, b) in the amount not-to-exceed

$800,000 for a Commercial Redevelopment Fund Project."

O. On or about January 15,2008, Pumper signed a purchase order authorizing

DAS to pay Beacon Metal Fabricators approximately $7,500 for work that had been performed

on the DIMORA residence in 2007.

P. On or about January 18, 2008 at approximately 3:34 p.m., GABOR and

Pumper discussed DIMORA approving GABOR's plan to work at Green-Source.

Q. On or about January 18, 2008, Pumper met GABOR and DIMORA at

Green-Source for a walk-through.

R. On or about January 19,2008, GABOR and Pumper had a conversation in

which GABOR told Pumper that DIMORA was "cool" with GABOR working at Green-Source.

Pumper told GABOR that DIMORA should do what he could to help GABOR while DIMORA

was "still in power." GABOR responded that DIMORA "will be rewarded with it."

S. On or about January 22, 2008, Pumper and GABOR talked about a

possible public project for Green-Source in a suburb where GABOR's relative was a public

official. Pumper and GABOR discussed how GABOR could earn commissions on the project.

GABOR said, "Alright, well I don't want to talk now but I mean." Pumper attempted to interrupt

and then GABOR said, "I'll treat him like JIM [DIMORA], you understand?"

T. On or about February 4, 2008, Pumper told GABOR to relay a message to

DIMORA that Pumper wanted DIMORA to ask the director of a County agency to do an official
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act in connection with Pumper's divorce.

U. On or about February 6, 2008, GABOR told Pumper that DIMORA

needed the case number and that DIMORA would call that day or the next.

V. On or about February 8, 2008 at approximately 11 :55 a.m., Pumper and

GABOR discussed their plan to have DIMORA approach PEl 0 on Green-Source's behalf.

W. On or about February 11, 2008 GABOR and PUMPER discussed their

efforts to have DIMORA insert Green-Source products as a required part of the bid for a

proposed County project.

X. On or about February 20, 2008, GABOR and Pumper had a conversation

in which GABOR reported that he had talked with DIMORA about getting Green-Source's

products spec'd in the building. GABOR said DIMORA offered to have lunch with PEID and

asked Pumper ifhe wanted to do that on Monday or Tuesday.

Y. On or about February 27,2008, DIMORA had a conversation with PEI9

about Pumper needing an extension on the Parkview loan. DIMORA sought advice from PE19

about which County officials the Parkview "folks" should meet to discuss obtaining an

extension. PEI9 named two individuals and asked if DIMORA wanted PEI9 there. DIMORA

replied, "Well ... only because I'm sure they're not going to be able to tell them yes or no on

their request." PE19 said, "If you don't mind, let me have my staff there and tell them they gotta

report back to me, and then we can sit there and think about what we want to do and I could be

the prick if you need a prick." DIMORA responded, "Okay. Well I'm okay with giving them an

extension, uhm ... and again they're said they're willing to pay the interest on the extension ...
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they're not ..." PEl9 said the County had done that for a restaurant and "affordable housing is

an easier thing to do than a restaurant ... you tell me where and when and I'll have them

there.... Period. Ifit comes from you, it's even better than ifit's coming from me."

Z. On or about March 3, 2008 at approximately 4:34 p.m., DIMORA had a

conversation with PE11 in which he expressed frustration that County employees had not yet

scheduled the meeting on the Parkview extension.

AA. On or about March 4,2008, DIMORA wrote a note to PEl I and PEI8 on

a printed e-mail message about the Parkview extension instructing them to make sure Pumper

was "called on this meeting date and time above and that this is the meeting he wanted on the

Allerton Project, not Parkview Project, and advise me." He also wrote that he wanted two

particular County employees "in attendance" at the meeting.

BB. On or about March 3, 2008 at approximately 2:38 p.m., PUMPER

discussed a potential Green-Source business lead with GABOR and said they do "retirement

facilities, which is perfect for Green-Source." PUMPER told GABOR, "Set this up ... me, you,

JIMMY [DIMORA] and him, and have them start to put that stuff into play for us." GABOR

replied, "Ok, now wait a minute, why JIM [DIMORA]?" PUMPER replied, "Well, because you

know, [the business man] likes JIMMY [DIMORA], you know and maybe if [the business man]

needs something he can talk to JIMMY, something like that you know." GABOR replied, "Ok,

but JIM [DIMORA] doesn't really have nothing to do with it right? Just to have him there,

right?" PUMPER stated, "Yeah, just to have him there."
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CC. On or about March 3, 2008 at approximately 4:26 p.m., Pumper had a

conversation with DIMORA in which Pumper mentioned an east side Neighborhood Family

Services Center ("ESNFSC") as being a "perfect" project for Green-Source. DIMORA explained

the positions various politicians were taking on the project and then said, "I will try and nail it

down and see where its at." Pumper responded, "As long as we know what direction it's going

and that way we can like have MICHAEL G [GABOR] over there, kinda contact the guys and try

to sit down with their architects."

DD. On or about March 3, 2008 at approximately 4:42 p.m., PEl I reported to

DIMORA that there was no answer for the ESNFC.

EE. On or about March 5, 2008, DIMORA and Pumper had a conversation in

which DIMORA told Pumper the meeting with Parkview/Allerton representatives had been

scheduled for March 10th. Pumper told DIMORA that he needed the loan moved out about five

to ten years. DIMORA replied, "Five? ... I told them maybe give' em ... add maybe one or

two." DIMORA then stated, "Well have the meeting and then let me see what, you know, what I

can do with it."

FF. On or about March 10, 2008, Pumper met with County employees to

discuss an extension of the Parkview loan.

GG. On or about March 12, 2008, Pumper, DIMORA and GABOR met with

PEIO at Delmonico's restaurant to promote Green-Source products for the JJC.

HH. On or about March 14, 2008 at approximately 8:08 a.m., Pumper had a

conversation with a Green-Source employee about DIMORA's influence over PEIO with respect
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to the JJC.

II. On or about Friday, March 14, 2008, Pumper gave PE lOa tour of Green-

Source.

J1. On or about March 14, 2008 at approximately 10:59 a.m., GABOR and

Pumper discussed DIMORA's role in assisting Green-Source with the JJC.

KK. On or about March 16,2008, PUMPER and GABOR had a conversation

about whether they needed DIMORA "to do anything" to assist Green-Source regarding a

pending County project.

LL. On or about March 21, 2008, GABOR and Pumper had a conversation

about DIMORA's concerns regarding GABOR's attendance at a meeting that DIMORA was

arranging for Pumper and BE25 regarding Green-Source working on the JJC.

MM. On or about March 26, 2008 at approximately 1:03 p.m., GABOR and

Pumper had a conversation in which Pumper stated that he was working on the addendum for the

JJC. Pumper said, "We saved them close to about $2 million dollars." GABOR responded,

"That's exactly what they figured, that ~s exactly what JIM [DIMORA] said, 2 to 3 million."

NN. On or about March 26,2008 at approximately 11 :58 a.m., Pumper and

DIMORA had a conversation in which Pumper asked DIMORA about union reaction to Green­

Source products in the JJC. Pumper pointed out that although the Masons might lose some of the

work, it "would increase the Carpenters' role in the job." Pumper asked ifDIMORA would

have a problem with that. DIMORA said, "No. Why do you think they're going to b-ch about

it?" Pumper replied that the Masons might "b-ch" but the Carpenters would "love it."
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DIMORA said Pumper's challenge was to convince the general contractor to use Green-Source.

DIMORA said the savings sounded good and said he would "tell them to call the Carpenters."

Pumper said the Carpenters would be loving it. DIMORA said that the individual at the

Carpenters was a "bigger pain in the a-- than the other guy [individual at the Masons' Union]."

Pumper agreed.

00. On or about March 26, 2008, DIMORA told Pumper that he saw the

County had given a three-year extension on the Parkview loan. Pumper thanked DIMORA who

responded, "Yeah, so that worked out good."

PP. On or about March 31, 2008 at approximately 3:44 p.m., DIMORA told

PEI8,."I guess Steve Pumper wants a meeting with [BE25 regarding Green-Source] .... So try

to tie it in if Steve Pumper's available tomorrow. I'm going to be at Delmonico's."

QQ. On or about March 31, 2008 at approximately 5: 15 p.m., Pumper asked

DIMORA what he was doing. DIMORA replied in a jocular manner, "Oh what the f-k, I'm

doin' nothing, I'm trying to make calls, make a living, help my friends make more money than

they already got." Later in the conversation, DIMORA told Pumper that DIMORA was trying to

arrange a meeting for the next day at Delmonico's restaurant with BE25.

RR. On or about April 1, 2008 at approximately 9:00 a.m., BE25 and Pumper

had a conversation about DIMORA asking BE25 to attend a meeting at Delmonico's restaurant

regarding the JJC. Pumper said, "We'll [DIMORA and I] guide you through a couple of things

and then let you take it from there."
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SS. On or about April I, 2008, Pumper, DIMORA and BE25 met at

Delmonico's restaurant to discuss BE25 using Green-Source products for the JJC.

IT. On or about April 2, 2008, BE25 and Pumper had a conversation in which

BE25 said, "Just to let you know, in follow up to yesterday, our team is writing the spec for you

guys [Green-Source]."

DU. On or about April 22, 2008, DIMORA and Pumper had a conversation in

which DIMORA stated that DIMORA had a "nice talk with [McCafferty about the DAS case]"

and would let Pumper know what was "going on with that."

VV. On or about April 28, 2008, DIMORA and Pumper had a conversation in

which DIMORA told Pumper that McCafferty's bailiff would be calling Pumper to discuss the

"sub-contractor" issue in the DAS case and to get the particulars to McCafferty's staff attorney

"to try to get the thing worked out for you." DIMORA said he had told the bailiff that he thought

"the other issue is okay, but I said if it's not, when he calls you, you can talk to him about that,

too.... Let me know what's shaking after you talk to him. If there's something more we need to

do or I need to talk to somebody you know what I mean after you get the conversation and the

opinion back."

WW. On or about April 28,2008, McCafferty had a private telephone conversation with

Pumper about the DAS case, in which Pumper and McCafferty discussed the status of the case

and McCafferty agreed to schedule a settlement conference.

XX. On or about May 2, 2008, McCafferty and Pumper had a private telephone

conversation about the DAS case in which McCafferty said, referring to a settlement conference
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she had held earlier in the day, "I know it's more than you wanted to pay but I hope you can live

with it." Pumper replied, "You know what, I mean we're going to spend another 20,000, 30,000

getting this thing done anyhow." McCafferty stated, "I was trying to get it out at 175

[$175,000.00], but Ijust couldn't get it done." Pumper replied, "Yeah, that's okay. Listen, hey,

you did a great job for me, so, urn, appreciate that." Later in the call, McCafferty stated that she

would see Pumper soon, and Pumper replied, "Next fund raiser."

YY. On or about May 28, 2008, five days after the FBI had confronted Pumper,

DIMORA told BE29, "[W]ould you tell [Pumper] to please have his company send over this

invoice on this...." DIMORA stated, "I sent a check in, just so there is enough money on

account towards the uh project. You know I paid for, as I was telling you for the bigger addition

but I just want to.... You know I don't want to have nothing hanging out there that could come

back to hurt him or me, you know what I mean," and that DIMORA thought it would be "helpful

if they saw money towards it." BE29 indicated that he would relay the message to Pumper.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.

The Grand Jury further charges:

COUNT 21
(Bribery Concerning Programs Receiving Federal Funds, 18 U.S.C. §§ 666(a)(I)(B) and 2)

374. Paragraphs 1-3, 14,28,47, 74, 79 and 352 of this Indictment are re-alleged and

incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

375. The County was a government agency as that term is defined in Title 18, United

States Code, Section 666(d)(2), that received benefits in excess of $10,000 during the year May

24,2007 through May 23,2008 under a Federal program involving a grant, contract, subsidy,
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loan, guarantee, insurance and other form of Federal assistance.

376. Beginning on or about May 24,2007 and continuing until on or about May 23,

2008, the exact dates being unknown to the Grand Jury, in the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern

Division and elsewhere, Defendant JAMES C. DIMORA did corruptly solicit, demand, accept

and agree to accept for the benefit of any person things of value from Pumper, DAS, and DAS

Development, acting with the intent to be influenced and rewarded in connection with any

business, transaction and series of transactions of the County involving any thing of value of

$5,000 or more; that is, among other things, the Parkview loan extension, the County's purchase

of the BE8 parking garage, the DAS case, and Pumper's litigation in the Cuyahoga County

Domestic Relations Court.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 666(a)(I)(B) and 2.

The Grand Jury further charges:

COUNT 22
(Bribery Concerning Programs Receiving Federal Funds, 18 U.S.C. §§ 666(a)(l )(B) and 2)

377. Paragraphs 1-3, 16,28,30,47 and 74 of this Indictment are re-alleged and

incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

378. The operations of Green-Source affected interstate commerce.

379. The County was a government agency as that term is defined in Title 18, United

States Code, Section 666(d)(2), that received benefits in excess of $1 0,000 during the calendar

year 2008 under a Federal program involving a grant, contract, subsidy, loan, guarantee,

insurance and other form of Federal assistance.
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380. Beginning in or around January 2007 and continuing until on or about May 23,

2008, the exact dates being unknown to the Grand Jury, in the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern

Division and elsewhere, Defendant JAMES C. DIMORA, aided and abetted by Defendant

MICHAEL D. GABOR, did corruptly solicit, demand, accept and agree to accept for the benefit

of any person things of value from Pumper and Green-Source, acting with the intent to. be

influenced and rewarded in connection with any business, transaction and series of transactions

of the County involving any thing ofvalue of $5,000 or more; that is, among other things, the use

of Green-Source products in the JJC project and other County-funded projects.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 666(a)(I)(B) and 2.

The Grand Jury further charges:

COUNT 23
(Hobbs Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1951)

381. Paragraphs 1-6, 14-15,28 and 74-75 of this Indictment are re-alleged and

incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

382. From sometime in early 2004 and continuing through on or about July 28, 2008,

the exact dates being unknown to the Grand Jury, in the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern

Division and elsewhere, Defendant JAMES C. DIMORA did knowingly obstruct, delay and

affect and attempt to obstruct, delay and affect commerce and the movement of articles and

commodities in commerce by extortion; that isDIMORA obtained property not due to him or his

office, namely, cash, free and discounted remodeling work on his residence, meals, sports tickets

and entertainment, from Steven Wayne Pumper, DAS, and DAS Development, with their
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consent, under color of official right.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1951.

The Grand Jury further charges:

COUNT 24
(Hobbs Act Conspiracy, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1951 and 2)

383. Paragraphs 1-3, 5-6, 16, 28, 30 and 74-75 of this Indictment are re-alleged and

incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

384. At all times material hereto, the operations of Green-Source affected interstate

commerce.

385. From in or around late 2006 and continuing through on or about early May 2008,

the exact dates being unknown to the Grand Jury, in the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern

Division and elsewhere, Defendants JAMES C. DIMORA and MICHAEL D. GABOR, and

others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, did knowingly and intentionally combine,

conspire, confederate and agree with each other to obstruct, delay and affect commerce and the

movement of articles and commodities in commerce, by extortion; that is, DIMORA and

GABOR solicited property for DIMORA not due to him or his office, namely, commissions,

from Pumper and Green-Source, with their consent, under color of official right.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1951 and 2.
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The Grand Jury further charges:

COUNT 25
(False Statements to Law Enforcement, 18 U.S.C. § 1001)

386. Paragraphs 28-29,31 and 74 of this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by

reference as if fully set forth herein.

387. Beginning in or around April, 2008, the FBI, part of the executive branch of the

Government of the United States, and acting in a matter within its jurisdiction, was investigating

James C. Dimora for soliciting and accepting things of value from Steven Pumper in return for

Dimora using his official position to influence litigation in Letter Perfect Group, Inc. v. DAS

Construction Co. et aI, Case No. CV-08-651541, (hereinafter "DAS case"), pending before

Defendant Judge BRIDGET M. MCCAFFERTY, in violation of federal law.

388. Beginning in or around July 2008, the FBI, part of the executive branch of

Government of the United States, and acting in a matter within its jurisdiction, was investigating

Frank P. Russo and others for Russo soliciting and accepting things of value from another in

return for Russo using his official ,position to influence litigation in Anthony J. Debaltzo v.

Joseph N. Consolo, Case No. CV-08-657958, pending before MCCAFFERTY, in violation of

federal law.

389. On or about September 23,2008, Special Agents of the FBI interviewed

MCCAFFERTY in connection with the investigations described above'.

The Offense

390. On or about September 23, 2008, in the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern

Division, Defendant BRIDGET M. MCCAFFERTY knowingly and willfully made the following
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material false statements in a matter within the jurisdiction of the executive branch of the

Government of the United States: (1) MCCAFFERTY denied that Dimora attempted to intervene

in any cases before her court; (2) when asked if MCCAFFERTY called Pumper after a settlement

conference (concerning the DAS case) and told Pumper that she tried to settle the case for less

money, MCCAFFERTY denied the conversation occurred; (3) MCCAFFERTY denied that

Frank Russo ever spoke to her about any cases in her court; (4) MCCAFFERTY denied giving

Frank Russo any special consideration with regard to any cases before her; (5) MCCAFFERTY

indicated that her only conversations with Russo about her court would have been Russo or

Dimora's remarks that they heard from attorneys that she was doing a good job as ajudge; well

knowing at the time that she made those statements to Special Agents of the FBI that such

statements were false.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1001.

The Grand Jury further charges:

COUNT 26
(Conspiracy to Obstruct Justice, 18 U.S.C. § 1512, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371)

391. Paragraphs 1, 14, 23-24, 28-30, 34, 63, 68, 70, 72, 74, 78 and 84 of this

Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

392. From in or around December 2007 through the date of the filing of this

Indictment, the FBI and IRS were investigating, among other things, whether individuals and

private companies had provided things of value, including free and discounted home

improvements, to DIMORA and other public officials in return for their promise to perform

official acts. In the course of that investigation, federal grand jury subpoenas from the Northern
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District of Ohio were issued.

393. On or about May 23,2008, in one of the first overt steps in the investigation

described above, FBI agents interviewed Steven Pumper about Pumper bribing PE37 and sought

Pumper's cooperation in an investigation of municipal public corruption. Although the

interviewing agents did not mention the County or any County official, Pumper volunteered, "1

know you guys are thinking of DIMORA and Russo and them."

394. On or about the morning of May 26, 2008, Attorney 5, then representing Pumper,

learned that a grand jury subpoena would be forthcoming requiring DAS and Pumper to produce

documents.

395. On or about May 29,2008, and in furtherance of the investigation described above, the

United States served a grand jury subpoena on DAS requiring production of "all documents reflecting any

financial relationship between DAS Construction and any public official" and also served a grand jury

subpoena on Pumper requiring production of "all documents reflecting any financial relationship

between DAS and any public official."

THE CONSPIRACY

396. Beginning on or about May 23,2008, and continuing until on or about June 20,2010, in

the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern Division and elsewhere, Defendants JAMES C. DIMORA,

MICHAEL D. GABOR, and ROBERT W. RYBAK, and Steven Wayne Pumper (not charged herein),

John Kevin Kelley (not charged herein), Nicholas Zavarella (not charged herein), and others known and

unknown to the Grand Jury, did knowingly and intentionally conspire, combine, confederate and agree

together and with each other and with other persons known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit an
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offense against the United States, namely, to violate Title 18, United States Code, Section 151 2(b).

OBJECT OF THE CONSPIRACY

397. It was the object of the conspiracy that DIMORA, RYBAK, GABOR, Kelley, Pumper,

Zavarella and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, concealed, atte~pted to conceal and

encouraged others to conceal from law enforcement and the Grand Jury the fact that DIMORA had

solicited and accepted bribes, kickbacks and gratuities.

MANNER AND MEANS

It was part of the conspiracy that:

. 398. In order to make it appear that the work performed on DIMORA's house was not free and

discounted, and did not constitute bribes or gratuities, DIMORA, Pumper, Zavarella and others created

and caused to be created documents related to work performed at DIMORA's residence.

399. During the course of the conspiracy and continuing through on or about June 20, 2010,

DIMORA caused to be sent a series of checks drawn on Lori and JAMES DIMORA's personal checking

account made payable to DAS, ZBC and others who performed work at DIMORA's residence.

400. DIMORA, GABOR, RYBAK, Pumper and others influenced and attempted to influence

statements of witnesses about the work performed at DIMORA's residence and other things of value

provided to DIMORA.

401. DIMORA and Pumper communicated through intermediaries, including GABOR.

OVERT ACTS

402. In furtherance of the conspiracy, and to effect the object thereof, DIMORA, GABOR,

RYBAK, Pumper, Zavarella, Kelley and others committed the following overt acts in the Northern
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District of Ohio and elsewhere:

A. On or about May 23, 2008, Pumper and BE29 agreed that BE29 would notify

DIMORA and others that Pumper had been confronted on that date by FBI agents investigating Pumper's

bribery of PE37.

B. On or about May 23, 2008, DIMORA caused to be issued a check drawn on Lori

and JAMES DIMORA's personal checking account made payable to DAS in the amount of$600.

C. On or about May 23, 2008, DIMORA caused to be issued a check drawn on Lori

and JAMES DIMORA's personal checking account made payable to ZBC for $500.

D. On or about May 23, 2008, DIMORA caused to be issued a check drawn on Lori

and JAMES DIMORA's personal checking account made payable to Salva Stone Design for $250.

E. On or about May 24, 2008 at approximately 11 :38 a.m., DIMORA told Russo he

was en route to Your's Truly restaurant and said that if BE29 arrived, Russo should pull him aside for a

minute. Russo responded, "I know. The mother told me yesterday." DIMORA instructed Russo not to

talk on the phone.

F. On or about May 24,2008 at approximately 12:48 p.m., DIMORA and GABOR

discussed meeting the following afternoon.

G. On or about May 25,2008, Pumper created a Construction Agreement purporting

to reflect a verbal agreement of October 10, 2005 between DIMORA and DAS for work DAS performed

at the DIMORA residence, and arranged to have the Construction Agreement delivered to DIMORA

through GABOR.
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H. On or about May 26, 2008 at approximately 5:13 p.m., DIMORA called Kelley to

give him a "heads up on something coming up maybe this week."

I. On or about May 26, 2008 at approximately 8:40 p.m., Kelley told RYBAK that he

needed to see him. RYBAK told Kelley to come over to RYBAK's house.

1. On or about May 27, 2008, GABOR asked DIMORA, "Is everything okay?"

DIMORA replied, "So far, we'll see what happens this week." GABOR informed DIMORA that he was

going to see RYBAK. DIMORA said that it was okay for GABOR to meet with RYBAK. DIMORA

added, "The other guy [Kleem] we talked about maybe you should stop and see." GABOR replied, "Get

it done with?" DIMORA agreed. GABOR asked, "Just tell him the story right?" DIMORA replied,

"Yeah ... not to broadcast it," and Gabor said, "Right for his own good."

K. On or about May 28,2008 at approximately 7:41 a.m., BE29 told DIMORA he

was with Pumper. BE29 informed DIMORA that Attorney 5 wanted DIMORA to call him [Attorney 5].

DIMORA asked, "Attorney 5?" BE29 replied, "Yeah, nothing serious. He just wants to let you know a

couple things." BE29 gave Attorney 5's telephone number to DIMORA and told DIMORA that Attorney

5 "talked to the U.S. Attorney yesterday" and there was no "real problem, they're [the FBI] just digging."

DIMORA responded, "Well, yeah, we knew they they're always ... aren't they always?" BE29 replied,

"He just wants to let you know what's up."

L. On or about May 28,2008 at approximately 7:42 a.m., DIMORA called Attorney 5

and while the phone was ringing, DIMORA spoke with someone in the background, saying, "Well I'm

not going to say nothing." Attorney 5 then answered the phone and told DIMORA that he would like 15

minutes of DIMORA's time and specified, "It's kind of important." Attorney 5 told DIMORA, "The
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sooner the better," and agreed to meet DIMORA at DIMORA's residence later that morning.

M. On or about May 28, 2008 at approximately 7:45 a.m., DIMORA told BE29,

"[W]ould you tell [Pumper] to please have his company send over this invoice on this...." DIMORA

stated, "I sent a check in, just so there is enough money on account towards the uh project. You know I

paid for, as I was telling you for the bigger addition hut I just want to.... You know I don't want to have

nothing hanging out there that could come back to hurt him or me, you know what I mean." DIMORA

stated further that he thought it would be "helpful if they saw money towards it." BE29 indicated that he

would relay the message to Pumper.

N. On or about May 28, 2008 at approximately 11 :46 a.m., Kleem thanked DIMORA

for the "message." DIMORA indicated everything was alright so far but he was "always waiting for the

other shoe to fall or drop." Kleem replied, "Well there is no other shoe to drop. I think everything is

going to be good." At the conclusion of the conversation, Kleem and DIMORA agreed to meet at a later

date. Kleem told DIMORA, "Don't worry too much."

O. On or about May 28, 2008 at approximately 11 :54 a.m., DIMORA called

Zavarella.

P. On or about May 28,2008 at approximately 12:12 p.m., RYBAK told DIMORA

that he had spoken to GABOR earlier that day. RYBAK said he did not want to discuss it on the

telephone, but wanted to speak to DIMORA in person. DIMORA said, "No, I know."

Q. On or about May 28, 2008 at approximately 7:22 p.m., GABOR told Kelley that he

was socializing with a friend. Kelley handed the phone to DIMORA, who said to GABOR that he

thought GABOR was meeting with someone else and wanted an update. GABOR replied, "Exact same
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thing." DIMORA asked, "What does he think about me?" GABOR replied, "Zero." DIMORA said,

"Oh, he thinks it's something else?" GABOR replied, "No, he thinks that they were just trying to push

him against a wall and he said, 'F-k you. '" DIMORA said that [Attorney 5] came and that DIMORA did

not want to speak on the phone. GABOR agreed to talked to DIMORA later.

R. On or about May 28, 2008 at approximately 9:45 p.m., DIMORA, RYBAK and

Kelley met in a post office parking lot and discussed RYBAK's concern about law enforcement

discovering that Local 55 and JATC resources had been used for DIMORA home improvements.

S. On or about May 28, 2008 at approximately 9:55 p.m., RYBAK and Kelley told

each other in a jocular manner, "To the best of my recollection. I don't recall." RYBAK said, "Hey

listen, on a serious note, ask him [DIMORA] on those fixtures the toilet fixtures, and all that stuff ...

where's he [DIMORA] gonna say that came from, because I think that came from the Mister Bill

[Neiheiser]. So [unintelligible] be careful with that." Kelley replied, "No, he's gonna ... tell the truth

that's all that matters. When something's f--ked up, you just fix it. That's it." RYBAK agreed. Kelley

said if you "start lying, you get in trouble."

T. On or about May 30, 2008, Nicholas Zavarella caused to be sent an invoice from

ZBC to DIMORA in the amount of $6,687 for masonry, labor and material completed as of March 31,

2008.

U. On or about May 30, 2008 at approximately 6:24 p.m., DIMORA asked Attorney 5

whether a certain p~rson who had recently called DIMORA was with the FBI. Attorney 5 told DIMORA

that the name did not match either of the two business cards the FBI had given to Pumper, but Attorney 5

agreed to check for DIMORA since Attorney 5 did not have the business cards with him and he could not
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recall with certainty the name of one of the Agents. During the conversation, Attorney 5 told DIMORA,

"No, nothing directed towards your direction." DIMORA responded, "Oh, okay, fine." Attorney 5

continued, "So that's good. I'm not saying it can't change but. ... " DIMORA said, "Yeah. Right."

Attorney 5 added, "The initial one, nothing your way, nothing involving you." DIMORA said, "I uh, so

what should we still try to uh get this thing resolved or sit on it?" Attorney 5 replied, "Yeah, let's give it

some thought. 1think, you know, something should be done. 1think he [Pumper] should finish up over

there as he [Pumper] planned." DIMORA said, "I mean there is a couple little things that need to be

completed, you know, 1mean the other thing it too ... 1mean the money can be applied for materials.

We know there's materials, you know what I'm saying." Attorney 5 replied, "Right." DIMORA then

asked, "Okay, nothing with the County either [Attorney 5]?" Attorney 5 responded, "No, nothing

directed that way strictly directed towards my client [Pumper]." At the conclusion of the conversation,

Attorney 5 agreed to call ifhe found out the person DIMORA inquired about was an FBI Agent.

V. On or about June 3, 2008, Pumper caused to be sent an invoice from DAS to

DIMORA dated May 30,2008.

W. On or about June 30, 2008, DIMORA caused to be issued a check drawn on Lori

and JAMES DIMORA's personal checking account made payable to DAS for $600.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.

The Grand Jury further charges:
COUNT 27

(Destruction, Alteration, or Falsification of Records in Federal Investigations,
18 U.S.C. §§ 1519 & 2)

403. Paragraphs 28, 74 and 78 of this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference

as if fully set forth herein.
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The Obstruction

404. From on or about May 23, 2008 to on or about January 22,2010, in the Northern District

of Ohio, Eastern Division, Defendant JAMES C. DIMORA, and Nicholas Zavarella (not charged herein),

Steven Wayne Pumper (not charged herein) and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, did

knowingly alter, conceal, cover up, falsify and make a false entry in any record, document and tangible

object with the intent to impede, obstruct, and influence the investigation and proper administration of

any matter within the jurisdiction of any department and agency of the United States, and in relation to

and in contemplation of any such matter.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1519 and 2.

The Grand Jury further charges:

COUNT 28
(Hobbs Act Conspiracy, 18 U.S.C. § 1951)

405. Paragraphs 1-3, 5-6, 8, 18-20,28-29, 34,41, 52, 57-59, 70 and 85-86 of this Indictment

are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

406. Beginning in or around 2007 and continuing until on or about May 29, 2008, the exact

dates being unknown to the Grand Jury, in the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern Division and elsewhere,

Defendants JAMES C. DIMORA and ROBERT W. RYBAK, and John Kevin Kelley (not charged

herein), P09 (not charged herein), and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, did knowingly and

intentionally combine, conspire, confederate and agree with each other to obstruct, delay and affect

commerce and the movement of articles and commodities in, commerce by extortion; that is, DIMORA

and P09 obtained property not due to them or their offices, from RYBAK, Local 55 and the JATC, with

their consent, under color of official right.
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OBJECTS OF THE CONSPIRACY

407. It was an object of the conspiracy that RYBAK, Local 55 and the JATC provided

DIMORA and P09 with things of value in return for DIMORA and P09 using their County positions t~

benefit RYBAK and others designated by RYBAK, in connection with County personnel issues, both as

requested and as future opportunities arose. The things of value included free and discounted home

improvements, meals and entertainment, political donations, and organizing a political fundraiser.

408. It was a further object of the conspiracy that DIMORA and RYBAK concealed and

attempted to conce,al the bribes described in this Count of the Indictment from law enforcement and the

public.

MANNER AND MEANS

It was part of the conspiracy that:

409. At times, Kelley served as an intermediary among and between RYBAK, DIMORA and

P09.

410. On or about February 9, 2008 at approximately 12:56 p.m., Kelley and RYBAK discussed

obtaining a promotion for PE21 which would result in a pay raise. During the conversation, Kelley

commented how "naive" PEZI was to think she could obtain the job on her own. RYBAK agreed.

Kelley also instructed RYBAK to use his "resource" to get PE21 the job. RYBAK indicated he told PE

21, "I can get every one of those three Commissioners to vot~ you a raise. She goes, 'Yeah right.' I said,

'How much you want to bet? I'm telling ya I could talk to DIMORA or [POlO] or the other one [P09]

faster than JIMMY [DIMORA] would do it for me.'" Kelley agreed. RYBAK then added, "Maybe he's

concerned that we're friends and people are tied in that way. But then again look at Frank [Russo] with
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all his friends." Kelley responded, "And well, why is Frank [Russo] as strong as he is? He takes care of

his friends." RYBAK said, "Well maybe JIMMY [DIMORA] has to learn that."

411. On or about February 9,2008 at approximately 5:09 p.m., RYBAK told Kelley how "f-­

ked" he was because he and DIMORAjust left the bar. RYBAK again discussed his bar bill. RYBAK

said, "Mine was $160 plus tip. Then we got [another person] drinking. We picked up the drinks

afterwards. Guess how much those were." Kelley asked, "How much?" RYBAK replied, "Another

$100. We spent 300 f--kin' dollars there today." RYBAK then commented Kelley "laid it on too heavy"

when Kelley was talking to DIMORA about the raise for PE21. Kelley replied, "I got JIMMY

[DIMORA] right where you want him." Kelley then added, "1 said, 'JIMMY [DIMORA], you know you

got to take care of this, I want, you know, get her [PE21] ten grand, just, you know and it will help the

whole situation.'" RYBAK asked what DIMORA said about the raise. Kelley responded, "He

[DIMORA] says he's gonna look at it. He'll figure it out on Monday, what's going on." RYBAK

replied, "You got to stay on him now, that's all, okay." Kelley confirmed he understood. RYBAK then

said, "Yeah f--k that five grand. Get her ten that's for sure."

412. On or about February 11, 2008, Kelley and RYBAK discussed obtaining County jobs for

Local 55 employees. RYBAK explained to Kelley how there used to be 'a union worker employed at the

Engineer's Office, but the worker was fired. RYBAK said it would benefit him (RYBAK) to "get a guy

in there." Kelley replied, "Absolutely, let me see what I can do." RYBAK then assured Kelley the union

worker hired would be' a "political asset" for the Engineer's Office,

413. On or about February 20, 2008, DIMORA had a conversation with PE23, who informed

DIMORA that PE21 did not want to move her office to a different building which was a requirement with
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the promotion, so PE21 's boss was going to give PE21 other responsibilities which would result in a

comparable pay raise. PE23 then suggested this would make PE21 "happier." DIMORA replied, "If

she' s happy, that's fine."

414. On or about February 22,2008, Kelley and RYBAK discussed coordinating a fundraiser

for P09. Kelley confirmed he spoke to P09, who already put the fundraiser on his calendar.

415. On or about March 10,2008, DIMORA asked PE23 ifhe received the message regarding

PE21. PE23 replied, "Yeah, I took care of it."

416. On or about March 12, 2008, RYBAK and DIMORA discussed the County hiring Plumber

1 to replace another plumber who left the County. RYBAK inquired if the Commissioners had to

approve the hiring of Plumber 1. RYBAK then offered to speak to the other Commissioners in order to

keep DIMORA "out of it." DIMORA confirmed that the hiring needed to be passed at a Board of

Commissioners meeting. DIMORA then instructed RYBAK to write a letter to the three Commissioners

and fax it to DIMORA that evening so he could discuss the hiring with the other Commissioners in the

morning. DIMORA said he would initiate the conversation with the other Commissioners and he would

say, "Let's help RYBAK out and get the guy [Plumber 1] on." At the conclusion of the conversation,

RYBAK and DIMORA discussed their upcoming trip to Las Vegas.

417. On or about March 13,2008, DIMORA called PE23 with RYBAK's request to have a

worker from the plumbers' union hired at the County. PE2~ told DIMORA, "I'll take care of it."

DIMORA then encouraged PE23 to lean on a certain County employee to make it happen.

418. On or about March 13,2008, DIMORA asked RYBAK, "How many times am I gonna do

you a f-ing favor?" RYBAK responded that he already installed the ice machine. RYBAK then asked
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what else "do you need," and made a reference to oral sex. DIMORA replied, "Come up with some p-­

sy, you mother f---er." RYBAK replied that he did not want DIMORA to "go down like Governor

Spitzer." DIMORA told RYBAK, "I ain't gonna pay for no p--sy. That's why he went down." RYBAK

replied,."Yeah, you'll let Gabor, Kelley and me pay it for you," and then laughed. RYBAK then inquired

about a recent County meeting. DIMORA told RYBAK that,PE23 told another County employee, "Take

care of this. PO10 and DIMORA wants [sic] it. Get it done." RYBAK and DIMORA then discussed the

plumbers' union r~ceiving "spots" similar to those the electricians' union rec~ived from the County.

RYBAK then told DIMORA, "Good man. Okay maybe now you'll get that bun [sexual reference which

was previously discussed in the conversation]."

419. On or about March 14,2008, DIMORA told PE23 about his conversation with RYBAK

and then inquired about the plumbers' union receiving spots with the County. PE23 indicated he

assigned the request to another County employee and told DIMORA he would follow-up. PE23 then

assured DIMORA he [PE23] would "get it done."

420. On or about March 18, 2008, RYBAK told DIMORA, "Remember Spitzer, if I go down,

you're going with me." DIMORA replied, "We are all going down together baby." RYBAK responded,

"Thank you Spitzer."

421. On or about March 20, 2008, RYBAK spoke to both DIMORA and Gabor and complained

abo\tt how Gabor and DIMORA treated the plumbers' union international officers the previous evening.

During the conversation DIMORA said, "I took care of you again today, you fat m,other f-er." RYBAK

replied, "About f-cking time. Nine months later."
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422. On or about March 21, 2008, RYBAK sent a letter to the County Commissioners .

recommending Plumber 1 and Plumber 2 to fill two journeyman plumber positions with the County.

423. On or about March 27,2008, DIMORA and P09 both voted in favor of appointing

Plumber 1 and Plumber 2 as full-time temporary plumbers with the County.

424. On or about April 4, 2008, DIMORA invited Kelley to a social gathering that evening and

explained that RYBAK was paying. DIMORA then encouraged Kelley to "let those other guys ...

know."

425. On or about April 15, 2008 at approximately 3:49 p.m., DIMORA complained to Kelley

that PE21 wanted more money. DIMORA then explained how PE21 applied for ajob but did not receive

it because the County hired someone from the outside and how they (RYBAK and PE21) are now trying

to figure out how to ~lock it and put PE21 in there. DIMORA then said, "They need another

Commissioner." Kelley suggested RYBAK call P09 since he was holding a fundraiser for P09.

426. On or about April 15, 2008 at approximately 4:12 p.m., DIMORA spoke to PE21, who

told DIMORA that she had applied for a position within the County but another candidate was hired.

PE21.was upset about not being selected and about the salary for the new hire. PE21 confirmed for

DIMORA that her raise wa:s on the Commissioners' Agenda for Thursday (04/17/2008). PE21 informed

DIMORA of the salary she wanted and they discussed a way to make that happen. DIMORA suggested

that RYBAK contact P09, since they would need a "second Commissioner" to approve the salary

increase. DIMORA also offered to have the matter pulled from the Commissioners' Agenda until an

agreement was made on the amount of PE2l's raise.
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427. On or about April 15, 2008 at approximately 4:31 p.m., DIMORA told RYBAK, "You

better deliver," and made a reference to a woman RYBAK offered to provide to DIMORA. RYBAK told

DIMORA not to help PE21 if it was going to create problems for DIMORA. DIMORA then inquired

what he would receive from RYBAK. RYBAK replied, "I always take care of you ... " DIMORA then

told RYBAK, "We need to get another Commissioner either way to do this." DIMORA indicated both he

and PE21 believed P09 was the "one to go after, 'cause he's on the hook here with his election time."

RYBAK then suggested he could also approach PO10 about PE21 's raise because RYBAK knew

someone who was close with POlO. DIMORA then recommended RYBAK go to P09 first and then use

POlO as a "fall back." DIMORA told RYBAK to inform P09 that he (DIMORA) was "on board" with

PE2l's raise.

428. On or about April 15, 2008, Kelley spoke to P09 about PE21 's raise. Kelley informed

P09 that RYBAK was speaking to PO10 about PE21's raise because RYBAK was uncomfortable talking

to P09 about PE21's raise since RYBAK was involved in P09's fundraiser. P09 then stated that PE21

would have his vote if she could wait until after the election in November.

429. On or about April 15,2008, Kelley informed RYBAK about his conversation with P09.

According to Kelley, P09 was willing to give PE21 a raise ifDIMORA was "on board" and if they

waited until after the election. RYBAK expressed frustration about the delay. Kelley indicated that P09

wanted to delay PE21's raise because RYBAK was participating in a fundraiser for P09 and seeking a

raise for PE21 at the same time.

430. On or about April 15, 2008, RYBAK informed DIMORA that P09 wanted to delay PE21 's

raise until after the election because RYBAK was hosting a fundraiser for P09. DIMORA suggested
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RYBAK go through POlO.

431. On or about April 17, 2008, RYBAK told DIMORA he had spoken to PE2l the previous

evening and she had told RYBAK to tell DIMORA to do what made him comfortable and not to do

anything that made DIMORA uncomfortable. DIMORA then discussed different options for PE21's raise

and inquired whether PE2l wanted to increase the smaller raise now. RYBAK told DIMORA to let

"[P09] lead the charge becaus~ according to Kelley they have an agreement with [P09]."

432. On or about April 17, 2008, DIMORA told Kelley he hated not to do something for PE21

because RYBAK would complain. Kelley assured DIMORA, "Without you they don't have nothing."

433. On or about April 17,2008, DIMORA called his office and asked PEl 1 to pull PE21 from

the Commissioners' Agenda.

434. On or about April 30, 2008, DIMORA and a landscaper discussed some plumbing work

that needed to be done at DIMORA's house. DIMORA inquired whether RYBAK needed to be present

when the plumber did the work. The landscaper indicated RYBAK did not need to be there and informed

DIMORA he would come to DIMORA's house later that day to start on the work. DIMORA and

RYBAK had a subsequent conversation in which they discussed the work being done at DIMORA's

house.

435. On or about May 12,2008, RYBAK and DIMORA spoke about the ice machine RYBAK

delivered to DIMORA's house the previous day. RYBAK asked DIMORA ifhe would hire PE22.

436. On or about May 12,2008, .DIMORA and Kelley discussed PE22's summer job.

DIMORA was concerned PE2l would draw too much attention to PE22's job. DIMORA then explained

to PEl 1 that PE22 wanted to start then rather than waiting until June 1. Kelley complained how difficult
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it was for him to move PE221s start date up to June 1 because it was two weeks before the summer hiring

program started. DIMORA then suggested he would tell PE11 that if Kelley could not move up the

starting date, DIMORA would instruct PEl I to hire PE22, because DIMORA "cannot say no."

437. On or about May 18, 2008, DIMORA left a voicemail message for RYBAK thanking him

for performing plumbing work at DIMORA's house the previous day. DIMORA then said the ice maker

was not working and requested RYBAK come to DIMORA's house to fix it.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1951.

The Grand Jury further charges:

COUNT 29
(Embezzlement or Theft from Labor Unions, 29 U.S.C. § 501(c))

438. Paragraphs 18 and 70 of this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if

fully set forth herein.

439. From in or around 2006, through on or about July 16,2008, in the Northern District of

Ohio, Eastern Division, Defendant ROBERT W. RYBAK, while an officer, that is, Business Manager, of

Local 55, did embezzle, steal and unlawfully and willfully abstract and convert to his own use and the use

of another the moneys, funds, and assets of said labor organization, namely, (1) used Local 55 assets to

perform work on RYBAK's property; (2) used Local 55 assets to perform work on the property of

RYBAK's friends; (3) used Local 55 assets to entertain RYBAK and his friends; and (4) used Local 55

assets to make a political contribution that benefitted RYBAK's relative.

. In violation of Title 29, United States Code, Section SOlCe).
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The Grand Jury further charges:
COUNT 30

(Embezzlement or Theft from Employee Benefit Funds, 18 U. s.C. § 664)

440. Paragraphs 19-20 and 70 of this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference

as if fully set forth herein.

441. From in or around 2006, through in or around 2007, in the Northern District of Ohio,

Eastern Division, Defendant ROBERT W. RYBAK, did embezzle, steal, and unlawfully and willfully

abstract and convert to his own use and the use of another, moneys, funds, property, and other assets of

the JATC, an employee welfare benefit plan subject to Title I of ERISA and of a fund connected with

such plan, namely, (1) used JATe assets to perform work on RYBAK's property; and (2) used JATe

assets to perform work on the property of RYBAK's friends.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 664.

The Grand Jury further charges:

COUNT 31
(Tampering with a Witness, 18 U.S.C. § 1512(b)(l)(2) &(3))

442. Paragraphs 28, 70 and 82 of this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference

as if fully set forth herein.

443. On or about January 15, 2009, Special Agents ftom the FBI and the United States

Department of Labor, Office of Inspector General, visited RYBAK at the Plumbers Local 55 union hall.

At the beginning of the meeting, the agents told RYBAK that he was a target of a federal investigation.

RYBAK told the agents that he was aware of the investigation of Dimora and Russo.
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The Obstruction

444. Beginning on or about January 15, 2009 and continuing until on or about June 8, 2009, the

exact dates unknown to the Grand Jury, in the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern Division, Defendant

ROBERT W. RYBAK did knowingly and corruptly persuade another person and attempt to do so and

engage in misleading conduct toward another person with the intent to (1) influence, delay and prevent

the testimony of any person in an official proceeding; and (2) cause and induce any person to withhold

testimony from an official proceeding; and (3) hinder, delay and prevent the communication to a law

enforcement officer of the United States of information relating to the commission and possible

commission of a Federal offense.

It was part of the obstruction that:

445. When BE24 showed RYBAK an FBI business card, RYBAK escorted BE24 outside the

union office. RYBAK told BE24 that if questioned about work performed for public officials, "All you

can tell them, BE24, is ... everything you ever did he [RYBAK] always said make sure you did it on .

your own time."

446. RYBAK told BE24, "If he asks you about Dimora,just say I helped him ... he ahhh, after

work one day ... you know a couple times after work I took time off ... just say ... they might have you

... you know they might of spotted you there with me ... after you know during working hours ...

one o'clock.... twelve o'clock ... say, 'Dh no, I took days off you know ... before you went over

there. That's all I can tell you."

447. With respect to RYBAK using union supplies for non-union purposes, RYBAK told BE24

to tell the FBI, "Anything he borrowed, anything he ever did, he's always, you know he buys supplies and
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he says what's that, you just say he borrows supplies, he borrowed this or he borrowed that."

448. RYBAK knew that BE24, at RYBAK's direction, had performed non-union work during

union hours.

All in violation of Title 18 United States Code, Sections 1512(b)(I)(2) & (3).

FORFEITURE
Forfeiture Under 18 U.S.C. § 98 I(a)(l)(C) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c)

449. The allegations of Counts 1 through 10, Counts 12 through 24, Count 26, and Counts 28

through 31 are hereby realleged and incorporated herein by reference for the purpose of alleging forfeiture

pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a) (l)(C) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c). As a result of the foregoing offenses,

defendants JAMES C. DIMORA, ROBERT W. RYBAK, JERRY 1. SKUHROVEC, MICHAEL D.

GABOR and WILLIAM N. NEIHEISER shall forfeit to the United States alI property, real and personal,

which constitutes, or is derived from, proceeds traceable to the commission of Counts 1 through 10,

Counts 12 through 24,· Count 26, and Counts 28 through 31; including, but not limited to:

a.) 7254 Forestwood Drive, Independence, Cuyahoga County, O~io (Permanent Parcel

Number 563-11-038); more particularly: the value of the free and discounted improvements provided to

defendant JAMES C. DIMORA at the pr.operty.

b.) Ohio State jersey in a 38" x 30" frame with B. Wells and #28 inscribed thereon.

c.) MONEY JUDGMENT: defendant JAMES C. DIMORA shall forfeit property, including,

but not limited to, a sum of money equal to the proceeds of Counts 1 through 10, Counts 12 through 24,

and Counts 26 and 28. Defendant JAMES C. DIMORA is jointly and severally liable for this forfeiture

obligation.
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d.) MONEY JUDGMENT: defendant ROBERT W. RYBAK shall forfeit property, including,

but not limited to, a sum of money equal to the proceeds of Count 26, and Counts 28 through 31.

Defendant ROBERT W. RYBAK is jointly and severally liable for this forfeiture obligation.

e.) MONEY JUDGMENT: defendant JERRY 1. SKUHROVEC shall forfeit property,

including, but not limited to, a sum of money equal to the proceeds of Count 9. Defendant JERRY J.

SKUHROVEC is jointly and severally liable for this forfeiture obligation.

f.) MONEY JUDGMENT: defendant MICHAEL D. GABOR shall forfeit property,

including, but not limited to, a sum of money equal to the proceeds of Counts 20,22,24, and 26.

Defendant MICHAEL D. GABOR is jointly and severally liable for this forfeiture obligation.

g.) MONEY JUDGMENT: defendant WILLIAM N. NEIHEISER shall forfeit property,

including, but not limited to, a sum of money equal to the proceeds of Counts 17 through 19. Defendant

WILLIAM N. NEIHEISER is jointly and severally liable for this forfeiture obligation.

SUBSTITUTE PROPERTY

450. In the event that any property subject to forfeiture under 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) and 28

U.S.C. § 2461 (c), as a result of any act or omission ofdefendant(s):

a.) cannot be located upon exercise of due diligence;

b.) has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with a third party;

c.) has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of this Court;

d.) has been substantially diminished in value; Of,

e.) has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided without
difficulty,

137



Case: 1:10-cr-00387-SL  Doc #: 1  Filed:  09/14/10  138 of 138.  PageID #: 138

it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 853(p), as incorporated by 28 U.S.C. §

2461 (c), to seek forfeiture of any other property of the defendant(s), up to an amount equivalent to the

value of the property forfeitable under 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461 (c).

A TRUE BILL

Original document -- Signatures on file with the Clerk of Courts, pursuant to the E-Government Act of
2002.
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